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Walkington in the 1920’s by Edgar and Joan Lythe

For most of the 1920’s we both cycled to school in Beverley every day, so we will begin our tour of Walkington with our homeward journey. On a windy afternoon- and there was always a head wind- the first bit of shelter came from the trees at what was usually called ‘the Asylum’

Walkington was then more aware of the mental hospital. For example it was a common sight to see groups of patients out ‘for a walk’ along the road and one or two voluntary inmates came regularly to the village, notably a dapper little man called Rhodes who played his fiddle during church services more or less in harmony with the rest of the musical performance. Furthermore, some of the hospital staff entered into the social and sporting life of the village and some of their children came to the village school. We were always fascinated by the traces of cobble paving in the footpath alongside the staff houses believing rightly or wrongly, that this was a relic of the path provided for under Sherwood’s will. *(The cobble paving was uncovered for a short time during the construction of the new cycle path in 2004)
West of the hospital there was a pond by the roadside next to the farm. The tenant, ‘Nappy’ Cook (so-called because of his phrase ‘I’m just napping on’) came almost daily to the village on his bike for a gossip in Lawson’s joiner shop. His daughter was an elocutionist who-later was the station announcer at York (‘The train now approaching platform 5 is the Flying Scotsman for Newcastle and Edinburgh’). The only house thereabouts – on the opposite side of the road was ‘Abyssinia cottage’, so called because when the Ferguson’s were reconstructing it they had an Ethiopian prince staying at the Hall. He was also responsible for planting ‘Abyssinia Tree’ that stands opposite the pond. *(It is still there).  Abyssinia cottage was occupied by the Taylor’s who sold eggs and chickens. Their daughter was a pianist much in demand at village concerts. At the corner of Mill Lane and Beverley Road was a beech plantation with ‘Jubilee Seat’ in front of it. The plantation was felled to make way for the first council houses, built by the District Council’

Up Mill Lane there was the disused windmill, Mill House and the cottages, belonging to the Dunnings.  By this time the windmill was being dismantled, but they still had some milling plant and a well from which from which water was pumped and sold in dry summers such as 1921.

One of the cottages had a special place in village history as being the headquarters of the first bus service. Vincent Wakefield (ex Royal Flying Corps) bought a baker’s delivery van and started a service between Walkington, Bishop Burton and Beverley. The buses contained two benches covered with strips of carpet. When the bus stopped, Vincent opened the doors at the back, you mounted and Vincent closed the doors behind you. Entertainment was laid on too. When we rounded sharpish corners one was often thrown into the laps of the people sitting opposite, occasioning much laughter.

However a rival in the form of Billy Hayton set up in business. His bus looked like an oblong sun-room on wheels with a folding canvas roof. Passengers gave graphic accounts of clinging to a stay during windswept crossings of the Westwood. A few months of bitter competition ensued until ‘Bluebell’ as Billy Hayton’s bus was called caught fire near Isbel Lane on Burton Gates. The competition whilst it lasted, had a distinct resemblance to the ‘Wild West’: cheap travel and high risk with the race to get to Bishop Burton before the other bus.

Vincent’s business expanded, with the buses being driven by himself and Ted Smith who was paying serious attention to Vincent’s very pretty sister, Elma. Eventually, Vincent had an extensive fleet of buses plying between Beverley and Hull, and employing a squad of conductors and drivers. Death cut short a career of imagination and courage, which had made Vincent a lot of money. The Wakefield service was eventually merged with others in East Yorkshire Motors. 

The other member of the Wakefield family operated on the Variety stage under the name of Douglas Wakefield. He was married to Gracie Field’s sister, and was steadily scaling the heights of variety and films. We did not see Gracie herself, but we saw an extensive collection of her wardrobe walking down the main street. Of the pioneering family only Elma stopped in Walkington as the wife of ‘Ted Smith.’

In the field beyond the ‘Sanctuary Stone’ is Rectory Farm.  It’s land had been awarded to the rector in lieu of tithes under the Enclosures of the 1790’s but, taking advantage of high farm prices in 1918, the Dawes had sold it to Stanley Wilson owner of Risby Estate.  After the war the farm was taken over by Ashley Plimpton (whose brother, Robert, the previous tenant had been killed in the war). The clock in the church was bought by the Plimptons in memory of Robert.

Moving from the crossroads towards the village the first house was occupied by Louis Ashton under the will of Major Ferguson–Fawcett. The next house was occupied by the Plimptons after they moved from Rectory Farm.  George Hayton, the previous occupant, was a prominent Methodist preacher and local representative of the Agricultural Workers Union which resolved on ‘industrial action’ against the farmers in the early 1920’s. We have vivid memories of seeing George Hayton standing on a rully on the green opposite the ‘Dog and Duck’, reading out a telegram from the Strike Committee at Skirlaugh with its clarion call ‘Harvest Operations will cease forthwith’.

The third house *(demolished in the 1970’s) was the Andersons, father, son and two daughters and a horse. They had a stall in Beverley Saturday market selling flowers, wreaths bedding plants and vegetables .For years they were official grass cutters in the churchyard.

As we enter the village we come to the first of two ‘gentleman’s residences’. Killerby House *(now Walkington Lodge) was an old Dunning property (named after Killerby near Catterick, the home of their ancestress, Margaret Ferguson).  Bob Sanderson lived there after retiring from farming on Monkton Walk. Across the road was ‘Acacia House’ occupied by ‘Nipper’ Wood and his housekeeper, Mrs Simpson who involved herself very much in village affairs. ‘Acacia House’ had been occupied by T.S. Stephenson until he built ‘Walkington House’.

Moving towards the village a wide entry on the south side gave access to the ‘Wash Dyke’, and through a gate to Crook Wells. The Wash Dyke was a built tank fed by a pipe under the road from the pond and available to farmers for the annual sheep dip. More or less alongside it was ‘Autherd Ville’ one of Samuel T.  Lythe’s creations and occupied by incomers Drake and Torr.  The house next to it and facing the pond was built by Sidney E. Lythe and let to a Mr Hanson distinguished by a remarkably fine alto voice.

The pond was a vital element in village life. Towards the eastern end there was a raised platform on which the barrel ends of the water carts were positioned (with much ‘back a bit’) to catch the flow of water from the nozzle of a tall pump worked by a wooden handle. *(The pump, similar to the one that still stands at the east end of Bishop Burton pond was unceremoniously chopped down with an axe in the 1950’s) But the great sight at the pond in the summer time was the daily visit of the ‘lane cows’. There was no barrier between the pond and the road and many a reveller got his feet wet. Another consequence was that in very wet weather the water rose above the road resulting in a minor flood just east of Pond Cottage. Pond Cottage is one of only of two chalk built houses surviving in the village (though there is a lot of chalk in the church as we discovered when we opened up the small window in the South Transept).  Beyond Pond Cottage was a grass field *(where the All Hallows Estate now stands).

On the opposite side of the road was the closest concentration of housing in Walkington.  First and behind the pond was Disraeli Gardham, son of a keen Tory and the pioneer of motor lorry transport in Walkington. (He had seen service in the Khyber Pass in India with a regiment that used oxen to haul its heavy equipment.)  He combined haulage with a bit of farming and was one of several people who sold paraffin and ‘hen corn’. *(I remember Disraeli as a very upright man with a long waxed moustache, traditional farming attire complete with black polished gaiters. His often severe look belied his kindly nature and he always had a word for us ‘village lads’).  Moving west, there were two blocks of cottages, each forming a square and looking out on to a small yard. They were occupied by interrelated and old established families - Danbys, Olivers, etc though one of the front houses housed Bill Hutton, the village pig-killer.

Beyond these house was the Primitive Chapel: in the 1920’s a very active centre of worship and social activity *(the chapel was demolished in the 1960’s).  Beyond it there were three more white-washed cottages. In the easternmost lived Sam Coyle, a typical rural craftsman with skill in hedge-slashing and the owner of a donkey-cart.  Next was ‘Keeper’ Brown, the general factotum at Walkington House, and then (next to the ‘Barrel’) the Stephenson family, one of whom was the ‘official’ drinking water carrier, tramping to and from Crooks Wells day in and day out with his two buckets *(the chapel and cottages were demolished in the 1950’s).

The Barrel Inn, owned then by Russell and Wrangham of Malton, was run by Charles Ash, one of the numerous Ash family in the village. It was a very modest establishment with a limited clientele and entertainment based on beer, dominoes and gossip.  Then came another row of houses fronting right up to the pavement. In the fist lived Stephen Ezard who did some carting and had a coal business. He also sold paraffin and corn.  One of the smaller houses was occupied by Earnest Bailey who, with his brother Harold, had a threshing machine, which drawn by a steam engine, went round the farms in winter, incidentally providing valuable supplementary income for both self-employed and unemployed.

The land now occupied by the village hall was a garden and then came four white –washed houses all owned by Fred Risdale.  A Mrs Dean lived in one and spent her time making ‘pricked’ rugs.  Fred lived in one doing some farming and his wife made butter and kept a little shop in the front room.

Across the road was the large white house alongside the Rectory gateway. This was one of the properties which members of the Ashton family owned for life under the will of Major Ferguson-Fawsitt whom they had served at the hall in various capacities-housekeeper, groom and so on. The house was later sold to David Foster when he retired from Wold farming and subsequently to Ted Lear.

The Rectory, under the Dawes was a relic of Edwardian gentility.  They both came of a relatively well-to-do background and the stipend, boosted by the opportune sale of Rectory Farm, enabled them to maintain a very comfortable way of life with a gardener/handyman (William Howes), a couple of indoor servants, and an assortment of snapping Highland terriers, a pony and trap and a notorious parrot called Marcus. Nothing better illustrates our simple rustic sense of humour than the hilarity which greeted the rumour that Marcus had laid an egg.  Apart from their annual month’s holiday the Dawes travelling extended little beyond Beverley to change the Rector’s books at Boot’s library.  Each year they had a visit from Mrs Dawe’s equally formidable sister - a Miss Beatrice Howe, resident in Paris and an artist of some standing. On discovering that we were ‘learning’ French, she insisted on hailing us with ‘Ah, mon garcon, qu’il fait beau temps’. To which we would stammer ‘Oui Monsieur’ and henceforth, took vast detours to avoid being caught again. The rector preserved what we presume to have been the Oxford clerical speech of 1880, and he always seemed to speak of the minor prophets as if he had known them in his young days.

With the coming of H.B. Greaves (from Hackness) and his young family the style of living at the Rectory changed completely. It must have been almost a hundred years since a young family had been in permanent occupation and they made an immediate impact on the village. Aside from his enormous efforts to restore the fabric of the church (of which more anon) Harry Greaves became a familiar figure in the village. Being a musician he formed the Choral Society. For a few years the Society flourished exceedingly, competing in music competitions at York and staging in the new village hall the quite ambitious musical ‘Hiawatha’s Wedding Feast’. What it lacked in musical talent (especially in the tenor section which relied largely on a Mr Kellington from Little Weighton) it made up in enthusiasm and volume and in the lavish teas and suppers which accompanied the performances.

The broad strip of road from the Rectory to the Dog and Duck corner was the hub of the village. The joiners shop *(across the road from the Fergie) was as much a social centre as a workshop, a reflection of the friendly nature of the Lawsons.  We can vaguely remember ‘Old’ Harry Lawson (father of the then partners, Rotsey and Roger who, with their two sons Walter and Frank, ran the business).  Their gates, wagons and drays won prizes at agricultural shows and lasted for ever. Harry Lawson served from his village workshop as coffin maker and undertaker and as he grew older his sons joined the firm.  Roger’s son Harry was killed in the 1918 war, and his other son, Frank and Rotsey’s son Walter, joined the team which was now able to add wheelwrights to their list of services. At last the dynasty ended, with Walter’s death; he left his own memorial in the beautiful choir stalls and priests seats he made and carved for the village church.  The Lawsons were essentially wheelwrights of more than local reputation, carrying out the whole process from felling oaks and elms at Risby to making the iron fittings and hoops and adding the decorative ‘lining’ to the paintwork of the final cart or rully.  Their stock of maturing tree-trunks was kept alongside the fence by Church Walk and on these (Lawson’s woods) the elders sat of an evening to enjoy the sun, observe passers-by and engage in endless bouts of reminiscence and gossip.  It was a real village institution and you could always tell where Rotsey had sat by the ring of spent matches whereby he had endeavoured to keep his pipe going. *(If you look at the fence at the beginning of Church Walk you can see where the Lawsons have incorporated some of their ironwork into the fence).
Across the road was another small L shaped block of cottages, known to the older inhabitants as ‘Dinsdales’ Yard’ because a generation earlier Billy Dinsdale had had a small joiners shop in it. Then, with its end to the road was a rather handsome house (a Ferguson creation we think) occupied by Tom Bailey (blacksmith), his sister and his two daughters. *(Margaret in the village shop is the granddaughter of Tom Bailey).  His workshop stood a little way back from the road (now incorporated into the Ferguson and Fawsitt Arms) and most of the horse-shoeing (the mainstay of his business) was carried on in the open, often with an admiring ring of small boys. He normally had an apprentice, one of whom, John Barker became a village character in his own right. Tom Bailey’s house should have had a preservation order put on it: made of Flemish Brick, with slightly protruding eyebrows over the windows it was demolished to widen the access to the carpark.  The yard beyond the shop was also the pub yard, but the pub itself, despite its fine sign and fine name, was not what if had been in earlier days when its ‘ballroom’ had been a focus for village activities.  This was all part of the Ferguson/Ashton complex, and for a good number of years members of the Ashton family were licensees. It was only later, and under different management, that - for a variety of reasons - the Ferguson Fawsitt began to look up. The single story cottage across the road from the pub was where Louis Ashton conducted his business of ‘breaking’ young horses. He used to station himself in the middle of the road with a horse on a long rope so that it could trot round him in circles much to the admiration of small boys and the hazard of passing cyclists.

Back across the road was the small cottage next to the Ferguson Fawsitt, built by Lythes and Lawsons for the total cost of £96, then the ‘Black Shed’ where the local roadman kept his barrow *(now the bus shelter) and plastered with notices about Whist Drives and whatnot, and finally the Dog and Duck, licensee Edward Spence formerly a policeman. Before Hull Brewery changed it with mock-Tudor and overhanging eaves, it was a plain-fronted country pub.  However in our memory the most remarkable thing is not the pub itself but the gatherings outside it, of up to 30 or 40 lads, clustering rather like a swarm of bees, so that anybody past it had to take a detour and - depending on age and sex - more or less ribald comment.  ’What’ people ask, ’did they do before radio and TV?’ The answer is that some sat on Lawson’s woods, some stood at Spence corner, some went courting in the Park and some stopped at home and went to bed early.

There was none of this fancy ‘West End’: we called it the village street. The corner house at Kirk Lane was occupied by Fred Willey, butcher, a likeable man with a cheery word for everybody. According to the local tailor Fred had last been measured for a jacket some thirty years earlier and simply ordered replacements with ‘another jacket tailer’. As he filled out somewhat his sleeves appeared to become shorter as the years passed. Next to him was the small farmstead and house. Shortly before our time it had been the scene of a major row when the windows were taken out in an attempt to evict the tenant, but it in the 1920’s it was peacefully occupied by the son of the Dog and Duck publican. Then came the Wesleyan Chapel, another flourishing establishment. One of the stories about it in local building circles was that shortly after it was built the side walls began to spread outwards and had to be tied together with iron rods. The Primitives claimed that this was the result of the Wesleyans in full song. With stalwarts such as Timothy Oliver and Spencer Wilson the Methodists were a real force in village life, their ‘Anniversary’ being one of the high spots in the village calendar.

The village had its resident tailor living next to the Chapel. ‘Tailor’ Cross applied himself to his business with such success that he needed another workshop up the garden and conducted a regular trade by car in neighbouring villages. The entry to the back was little more than a footpath but by cutting off the plinth at the foot of the pillar it was just possible for him to squeeze past the earliest model of an Austin Seven, and reversing out was a great feat of driving precision. Next to him was ‘Lilac Cottage’ owned and occupied by Harold Lythe the church organist and then by his sister. *(Harold Lythe gave 60 years of service to the church and the window in the south transept of the church is dedicated to him and his wife) Then there was a cottage standing a little back, home of Mr Wilson the cobbler and then Bill Howes, veteran ex-regular soldier, newsagent, Rectory gardener and hair cutter to all and sundry.

Across the road, beyond Barn Terrace steps, there were two cottages up to the pavement occupied by former Ferguson employees, and then the house and farmstead of John Boynton, formerly the blacksmith, but the yard was also the headquarters of the Bailey threshing machine concern and the large building at the back (now ‘The Old Barn’) was a granary and stable.

After its conversion by the Fawsitts the eastern wing was equipped as a reading room. As we remember it, it had seats round the walls and a big table and was heated by an open fire in the old farmhouse range. We suppose that the intention had been to provide an alternative and non – alcoholic social centre: certainly it was used for meetings and was the original headquarters of the Women’s Institute. With the opening of the Parish Hall it became redundant and when Sidney Lythe bought the block he added an upper floor to form a dwelling house and let it to Sidney Ash.

The newer house to the west was occupied by the Fawsitt chauffeur, one of the Anson family from Little Weighton, and later by Joe Orvis, he was Edgar Hodgson’s chauffeur. Then came the short section of the high wall surrounding the hall, built by the Fergusons partly in the interests of privacy, partly for prestige and partly to form a deer park, and beyond it the rather handsome house occupied by Frank Jelly and his family. Moving west again there were two cottages, one occupied by George Sanderson, cobbler, and then the shop - ‘Farrow’s Shop’ - a major Walkington institution offering a vast range of goods and even more local gossip. Whilst the legal proprietor may have been Edwin Farrow (by profession the resident roadman), the dominant member was his wife who ran the shop assisted by her daughter Rose. There was, of course, no such shop as such - it was simply the living room/kitchen lined with shelves and cupboards and a ‘counter’ with scales, yeast and sweet jars just inside the door from the street. Though, we describe elsewhere, many people had weekly supplies of groceries and the like delivered from Welton or Hull, most people patronised Mrs Farrow, all children spent their ‘Saturday’ penny there, and for households where hand-to-mouth buying was the only way of life there was no alternative. *(Miss Farrow’s shop was still the only shop when I came to the village in 1947. Rose Farrow dressed all in black and wearing fingerless gloves was an imposing figure. She sold boiled sweets and five boys chocolate, bread and other household goods and yeast kept under a damp cloth on the counter.  One can still see the names of small boys waiting for the shop to open scratched in the brickwork!).

To the west of the shop there was an elaborate house (obviously a Ferguson job) occupied by Mrs Duggleby and her widowed daughter. Mrs Duggleby was distinguished by having outlived her husband by a prodigious number of years (60?). She was very proud of her plants, including hepatica which she claimed came from the site of the famous Risby Hall. *(The gardens of this house are still very beautiful, being open for National gardens and Walkington open gardens.) The house was also the Walkington base of Dr. Savage who came once a week in a trap from Beverley. He was a friendly old boy who, so it was said, always left a patient with the words ‘Keep him warm, I’ll call again’ which, of course, meant another 3/6 on the bill. *(The Duggleby gravestone, in the churchyard tells us more of this family. Mr Duggleby died in his 37th year and is buried with four of his children, all who died in ‘infancy’. An elder son died at sea and Mrs Duggleby lived to the ripe old age of 95)
Back across the road in the verge by the field called ‘Red Yats’ was one of the wells in the village street. They were arched in brick with three or four steps down to the water. The rising ground all the way along the south side of the street had a series of little seeps and ‘pond holes’ in gardens, obviously fed by water from a shallow stratum, but none of them was reliable in dry weather and the water (even in those days) was regarded with some suspicion. The first house beyond Red Yats, standing a little back, was occupied in our very young days by ‘Daddy’ Blakeston, a small bearded countryman who set off most days to tend bits of land he tenanted near Blue Stone Pit. The next house, directly opposite the shop was occupied by the Lewis family (related by marriage to the Lawsons) and then came Feoffee cottage, tenanted by Miss Wilson (sister of Spencer and Page - the latter the tailor at Little Weighton. The Wilsons were an old-established but not very numerous family, largely because they either did not marry or married late. Moving west there were the two houses up to the verge with farm buildings behind them. Fred Carter lived in one. He did some farming and serviced most of the allotment fields in Middlehowe. This was a hair-brained scheme whereby a normal field was divided into acre strips, each let to a different tenant, in other words, a sort of return to the open fields of the Middle Ages. We write with both knowledge and feeling because, until he saw the light, Sidney E Lythe had one. The outcome was that the tenant paid for everything- rent, cultivation, seed, reaping, feeding, leading and threshing of the stack into which everybody’s crop was piled in Fred Carter’s yard. In return he got more straw than he could use, a bag or two of ‘hinder-ends’ for the hens and £1.3.6 for the sale of grain (‘It didn’t thresh out very well!).

Moving west again - Killerby House now fronting onto the street started life with its gable end at right angles to the street. It was part of Dunning property, but, until it was altered, occupied by ‘Tinny Wilson’. ‘Tinny’, who had been the first occupant of ‘Southfield’, had by this time no very well defined occupation but an infinite capacity to pontificate on any subject. When Donald Dunning moved from Northgate he altered the house to its present form. The next two cottages and farmstead (the latter occupied by ‘Doudge’ Richardson,) also belonged to Donald Dunning. Facing these across the street, was the house and farmstead belonging to the Rigg Family but farmed by the Stephensons with a hind in the house. When they left Walkington House, Stavely Stephenson moved into the farmhouse and converted the farmstead into stabling for his riding school and a polo field at Westfield Farm. *(Mrs Gray, the widow of Walt the ex school crossing warden tells me that her husband trained horses for the polo field and she still has the whip he used above the mantelpiece of her house in Beverley and one of the fields on Westfield Farm is still called ‘Polo Field’.

‘Victoria cottage’ was run for a while as a chicken farm by Colin Blythe, but then passed on to Frank Brown and his wife (nee Ashton). Then there was a cottage occupied by Josiah Gray (later altered when Mrs Johnson moved to it from ‘Uplands’) and then ‘Westville’ which had been ‘done up’ for George Johnson shortly before the 1914 war. His son, Ted, was Head of the Chemistry Department at Hull Technical College and, after his parents death and his own marriage he built ‘Uplands’. To the west of ‘Westville’ was what we called the ‘Orchard’. In it there was a house and alongside the road George Sanderson’s cobblers shop. Nails entered heavily into his boot making and repairing, and his usual technique was to put a supply into his mouth and spit them out one by one, all ready lubricated to penetrate the leather. The last building on the south side of the street was the farm, tenanted by the Webster’s. *(The cobblers shop has long since disappeared as has the last thatched cottage in Walkington and the farm all which stood to the east of the present entrance to ‘Westmill Rise’)

We left the opposite side of the street at Staveley Stephenson’s riding school. Next to it was a field, which in the 1920’s was converted into allotment gardens. Some of the tenants did a tidy business in vegetables for sale. Next to the allotments and to the east of the present garage was a row of cottages noted for their fine quality of brickwork. *(California Cottage is the only one left standing) They belonged to George Lawson, a brother of the joiners, who deserves a place in Walkington history as the proprietor of the first petrol pump. Before that motorists normally went to Armstrongs or Hebbs in Beverley for their petrol though most carried a two gallon can on their running board and bigger users had it delivered in cans by Pratts.

Then came another of Samuel T. Lythe’s creations in the ‘small-holding’ field. Built into its framework is an assortment of medieval church masonry. *(Christine Elston tells me that it is believed the stonework came from Rowley Church and was taken when the church fell into disuse after the rector and his flock departed for America.) Its earliest occupant in our recollection was Mrs Brabbs, an ardent Methodist, but eventually it was sold to Con Binnington, the father of all professional gardeners. Next came an institution in its own right, ‘Cromwell Abbey’, the home of Pat and (later) his son ‘Crommie’ Oliver. Both were men of character. In his younger days Pat had ‘emigrated’ to America several times, indeed he was reputed to have peeled potatoes in an army camp in the American Civil War, but he had a redoubtable wife and a large family. By our time his travel was limited to the ‘Dog and Duck’, sometimes with unfortunate consequences, but in between times he grew remarkably fine pansies and gooseberries. After his death, his son Oliver Cromwell Oliver, returned home from York, though he also had had a long spell in North America. In a sense he took over from his father, working for the Lythes on an irregular basis. *(Cromwell Abbey did indeed have the looks of an abbey as its original windows were of a design that is found in church and abbey and they still lie in the back garden!) The next house was the Andersons, later home to the Herdsman family. In our youth ‘Hodge’ Anderson was still around- his name an echo of the old Walkington family of Hodgsons who had been scythe-shaft makers 100 years earlier. His son Tom, did a variety of things - carrying, hedge slashing and such, and shared with Donald Dunning the reputation of being the crack ham carver for village teas and suppers. The first of the two houses up the footpath *(Coupled Cottage) was occupied by the Blakestones who migrated to Market Weighton to start a bus service there, and the other by Mrs Ash-representative of a family going right back through Walkington records and a mother of a large family which included Fred, Charles, Dick, Aurther, George, Bill and Harriet. *(Betty Railton daughter of Dick tells me that Harriet being the only girl was always referred to as ‘Gell’. Her uncle Charlie Ash became landlord of the ‘Barrel’ and often as a treat for Sunday lunch she was sent to the pub for a jug of shandy…Aunt Harriet was the mother of Ron Carter.)

The farmstead next door was occupied by the Stephensons except for the building alongside the street which was the ‘old’ chapel, still used in those days for religious magic-lantern shows (Jessica’s Mother abides in our memory) and similar children’s activities connected to the Methodists.

The pit was an uncontrolled wilderness and, beyond it that fascinating bit of old Walkington, Saunders Lane, then a grassy cul-de-sac except for gates into fields and gardens and known to villagers as the site of the great ‘Sherwood’s House’. It was situated at the top of the field, between the end of Saunders Lane and the Hall. Substantial stonework was revealed when someone was setting gateposts in Saunders Lane and they came upon the foundations of what had been a large house. *(Could this be where Saunders lane meets Middlehowe Green? One can see a rise and fall of the road at this point and any house would certainly have had a commanding view over the village. Ernie Herdsman also found some ornate woodwork whilst digging in this area in the 1950’s)

Returning from the 16th Century to the 1920’s and to the High Hunsley Little Weighton crossroads, the bungalow on the right was built for James Wilson and the next house for his brother Spencer after he married Miss Winter. Then came W.K.Martin (King Martin) who had been senior officer at Market Weighton Police Station for many years before, as a young constable he had served at Walkington and married a Walkington bride. He was one of the early motor car owners and very quickly became active in village life. And finally there was Robert Richardson Risdale, descendant of another old local Walkington family. He led a secluded life with his sister as his housekeeper, cultivating his own land and selling a few plants.

There was nearly another house, but it never came off. About a quarter of a mile up the Hunsley Road on the north side there is a small plantation. This was laid out in readiness for a house for Brenda Stephenson, unmarried sister of Staveley who must have been the village’s first woman driver and certainly it’s first motor saleswoman operating in Hull. But when the family sold Walkington House she faded out of village life and settled in Kirkella *(the plantation is still referred to as ‘Miss Brenda’s by some villagers)

We should not leave the village street and Beverley Road without reference to what was then a common sight –namely the tramp, slogging his relentless way on the road with his bundle over his shoulder. The tramps routine was conditioned by the location of the workhouses where they could get a meal and a bed for the night and the village street was on the route from Howden to Beverley. Some were familiar figures, known by name (‘Old Jack’ ‘Charlie Duck’ or whatever) and though they were viewed by some children with suspicion, they were harmless individualists who often stopped at Tom Bailey’s blacksmiths shop to boil a pot of water for the tea which they had begged, but by and large doing their own thing, living (and dying) peacefully.

‘School Lane’ or ‘North Gate’

At ‘Dog and Duck’ corner there were two vitally important establishments, the butcher’s shop and the Post Office, both run by the Smith family. They also had a trap in which one of the sons would drive people to Beverley or Little Weighton station. In passing we might note that anybody setting off by train- to say Nottingham would patronise the Hull and Barnsley Line from Little Weighton and would often pass Miss Mathews (the infant teacher) who came that way from Hull every day and walked from the station to Walkington School dispensing bags of crumbs to the birds en route. During the summer holidays birds used to perch in vain on the hedgerows awaiting her arrival. But back to Northgate. Opposite the butcher's shop was ‘Barn’ or ‘Ivy’ Terrace.(the row of cottages that stand back beyond the wall and garden at the start of ‘Northgate’) It had originally been a farm steadying; what is now the house nearest the main street had been a ‘turnip house’ and the three higher houses had been the barn, and the top three had been cartsheds. They were converted by the Hull and Barnsley Railway Company to house some of their employees who were working on the construction of the line at Little Weighton. Just inside the boundary wall there was some biggish trees but gradually these were felled to the great improvement of the gardens.

The entrance from North gate provided a tempting short-cut for boys on their way home from school, a source of great annoyance and periodic complaints to the residents, many of whom were old-established and jealous of their well- washed flagged path. *(it was still the same in the 1950’s!) The adjoining paddock, (on the left up Northgate) the ‘Dumpling’- had a pond roughly where the house was later built and there was a shallow gravel pit in the south-west corner, yielding soft concrete aggregate, one of several pockets of gravel in boulder clay round about the central axis of the village.

The footpath going up Northgate was always raised a foot or eighteen inches above the road level and, at that time, was insecurely supported by planks on their edge held by short posts which stopped at path level. In view of the absence of any handrail and any lighting and of the proximity of the pubs, falls over the edge were not unusual. Going up beyond the butchers, there were some trees and then a pair of semi-detached houses, one was occupied by Mrs Roe (later by Arthur Ash) and the other by a Robinson family (from Bishop Burton) and Mrs Griffin. Then there was a block of four cottages right up the footpath: first the Wittys, next the Tomlinson's, then Mrs Potter and the Collinsons. The bigger houses, with a front door and steps to the footpath were dominated by Mrs Haldernby, a matriarchal figure who served the village at both ends of life as midwife and layer-out of corpses. Almost all confinements were at home and the situation was indeed serious if Mrs Haldernby could not cope. Her daughter, Mrs Ridsdale, lived at the extreme west of the village and her granddaughter, Mrs Davy, with her young family, lived with or alongside her. This block became the focal point of political rivalry for whilst Mrs Haldernby’s ‘front room’ was the Tory election headquarters Mrs Butler, next door to the school entrance, hired hers to the Liberals. This rivalry reached its climax in the General Election of 1922 when the Liberal Major Bowdler defeated the old-established Tory member, Arthur Stanley Wilson.

Then came the school and the schoolhouse and then the ‘yard’ with its L shaped block of cottages. The front two were occupied by Harold Bailey, one of the threshing machine brothers, and a colourful character called Tommy (or ‘Makker’) Anderson. Formerly a cobbler, with a shop opposite the Hall gates, he was, by the 1920’s part-time postman, school cleaner, pig and cow keeper, and famed for his early new potatoes, produced from ‘sets’ with sprouts about six inches long. One of the cottages inside the yard was occupied by another, and related, Collinson household.  Mrs Collinson ran a home laundry, her boys being mobilised to collect and deliver, gather wood for the boiler fire and turn the mangle.

‘Welholme’ (now Chapel house) came next, then a modernisation of what had been a Lythe family home since the 1840’s. In the course of alteration, what had been a chapel was incorporated into the house, forming the part with its gable towards the street. North again came the lower house occupied by the Maffins. They were a ‘horsey family’ one of whom (Freddie) was a prominent jockey in his day. The Walkington Maffin, Arthur, ran a carrier’s business to Hull, especially in the summer when he was the main outlet for surplus plums. Next *(where Jane and Graham Ashby have open garden) came Mrs Maclean, always dressed in black and formerly a Miss Anderson who had married a Scottish ship’s carpenter, Jimmy, whom we faintly remember. She was one of the many cowkeepers and ‘farmed’ one of the many commonright fields in Bishop Burton Lane. *(The front of this house was formerly a cobbler's shop and along with the previous two houses still have the long medieval strip garden, 22yds by one furlong.) Keeping to the same side Tom Richardson occupied the new looking house and behind it in the grass field was an unofficial boy’s cricket pitch. *(Still used as a ‘sports field’ when Beth Taylor was Headmaster of the school.) And finally, the last houses on the right as one leaves the village were occupied by Charles Richardson (another carrier/small holder), and the Baileys, one of whose daughters married Harry Bennison. He set up there in business as a joiner and did a lot of construction work in and around the village, including the Village Hall.

On the west side of Northgate there were three houses up to the road. The bigger one opposite the school was occupied by Donald Dunning until he moved down the village street. He was one of the ‘Mill’ Dunnings, but his main activity was in farming and public work, especially as a member of the District Council. When the Dunnings moved, the next occupant was William Farrow, a son of the ‘shop’ Farrow who had come back to the village after many years in the police force in London. He also quickly became active in public work in the village. The two cottages at the top of Northgate on the left were occupied by Charles Marshall, a joiner, who worked on the Race Course and had a considerable family; and finally William Gray, another carrier until he retired and sold out to Charles Richardson.

The Hall was nicely secluded from public view. Before our time it had been the property of the ‘Major’- John Daniel Ferguson–Fawsitt, but it was Fawsitt property and after the ‘Major’s death, it passed to a Miss Fawsitt who, on her marriage, had combined her name with that of her husband hence Chater-Fawsitt. We have already described this ill-assorted couple. With the death of Mrs Fawsitt the connection ended and the Hall was sold to Henry Hodgson, one of the Beverley tannery family. He spent a good deal of money on the place, including a bore and windmill pump to improve the water supply, and though they made no pretensions of becoming village ‘squires’, the Hodgsons continued the tradition of generous support to village activities as did the ‘Watson Halls’ well into the 1990’s.

Finally there were two farms at the top. ‘Northlands’, the home of the Walkington Hay Ride, had been owned before our time by John Shaw a Hull seed crusher. He built the big Dutch Barn and incorporated ‘ship’s masts’ into its construction. It was then occupied by Tom Joys and then sold to the Waterworths who-like Tom Joys had been farming at Bishop Burton, and under them it maintained its reputation for high productivity. Round the corner on Manor House Lane was Manor Farm, ancient Walkington farming territory and still at that time, the property of the Barnards of North Cave as Lords of the Manor Provost Fee. The Leapers were established tenants. Mrs Leaper was in our young days, with Mrs Johnson of ‘Westville’, the expert in village catering arrangements, having, apparently, a monopoly of knowledge about how much tea and sugar and milk was needed to brew enough for an estimated 150 people at two cups per head.

The Southern Fringe
Until ‘Uplands’ was built in the late 1920’s there were only four houses on the south side of the village. The only one in Kirk Lane was ‘Kirk View’, built in the 1900’s by Samuel T. Lythe who lived there until his death in 1926.This event resulted in a great triangular ‘flit’ in which, as we both remember it, a large part of the population assisted in a volunteer capacity. The deceased’s daughter Lily, who had been his housekeeper, moved down to ‘Lilac Cottage’, her brother Harold (church organist for 60 years) moved from ‘Lilac Cottage’ to ‘Welholme’, and elder brother, Sidney, moved from ‘Welholme’ to ‘Kirk View’, all in one day. ‘Kirk View was distinguished externally by the incredible assortment of varied stone embellishments (ex-church pinnacles and the like), whilst internally, there were twenty-six clocks, almost all ticking away, which under Sammy’s will, had to be dispatched to his male descendents. We have but recently heard that one, shipped to New Zealand via Liverpool, is still going strong in that country!

Top of Kirk Land the ‘Park House’ had been built by the Fergusons when the park was still the rector’s land. Towards the end of the 19th Century it had been a racehorse stud farm run by Tom Spence, but by our childhood it was occupied by the Plimptons. Two of their sons, as we have seen were involved with Rectory Farm, the father was a well-to-do professional man who set off for Hull each morning in his chauffeur driven car, and the two unmarred daughters, Ella and Winifred, were much involved in social and charitable events. The former was a founder member and for a long time President of the Women’s Institute’ In its early years the Institute was much occupied with cookery demonstrations, some of the products of which abide in our memory because for the next two or three months after the demonstration you would encounter the same thing whichever house you went to. We recall especially a pinkish sandwich filling known as ‘Mock Crab’ and a flat job, cut into slices with pieces of nut sticking through the top which our respective fathers called ‘nutty slack’. The sight of one of their ‘boned’ chickens defies description. 

In the Park itself, attached to the little farmstead was a cottage occupied by a family called Wright. *(Now the livery) Along the road towards Little Weighton there was ‘Southfield’, one of Samuel T. Lythe’s ‘Three acres and a Cow’ houses. After being let to a couple of tenants, ‘Southfield’ was sold to Mrs Dean whose husband (connected with trawling) had been accidentally killed and who came from Hull with her four daughters. In due course she converted some of the grass into tennis courts and the first Walkington Tennis Club functioned there with annual and bitterly contested matches against Bishop and Cherry Burton, Brandesburton and Norwood (whose tactics were regarded as being unsporting whenever they won, as they normally did).

The church by the early 1920’s had in many ways sunk to a pretty low ebb. Congregations were thin. Though the tower head was restored and the Dawes built a new north porch to replace a wood structure that looked something like a shepherd’s hut, the fabric generally was in poor shape. The music, supplemented sometimes by Mr Rhodes and his fiddle, was led by a harmonium situated under the arch of the south transept and being it was grouped a handful of lady choristers led by Miss Farrow (of the shop). There were three old bells, but normally only one ringer (Harold Lythe, the organist), and, as we remember them, the sermons were mainly about the spiritual experiences of the Minor Prophets which may have been meaningful B.C. but had little relevance to the youth of the 1920’s. Harvest Festivals always ensured a full house when we ploughed the fields and scattered with vigour and volume. A band of lay helpers kept the Sunday School together and both the Dawes did some routine ‘visiting’ but otherwise the impact of the church on the village was slight.

The arrival of H.B. Greaves from Hackness – after a very awkward interval – ushered in great changes, most tangibly in the complete overhaul of the fabric of the church. The cost in spite of a lot of voluntary labour – called for a series of money-making efforts, largely stalls and games on the Rectory lawn, *(the ‘hay ride’ garden party is held there these days) declared open by Stanley Wilson (as patron of the living) and, so our memory tells us, normally accompanied by downpours of rain. We referred earlier to Mr Greaves ‘talent’ as a musician. In the church, once the organ had been installed, he began creating a larger and predominantly male voice choir with weekly practices. One by-product of this may not be known today. One night in December, after choir practice, two or three of the members who had certain connections with damsels in the village made up a group to call upon and serenade them with carols. Much to their embarrassment, instead of being rewarded by jeers and pails of cold water, they were offered mince pies and hard cash. So, what had began as a joke became the annual pilgrimage of the village by the singing church choir which continues to this day!

In so far as there was a recreation ground it was provided by the grass land of Park Farm both to the south and south-east of the church. *(The bottom of Beech Walk) We suspect this was a legacy of the days when it had all belonged to the rector. The Park itself was highly favoured by respectable inhabitants our for a Sunday afternoon stroll and, at other times by courting couples. The well-observed convention was that, in daytime anyhow, you kept to the defined track from the gate by the church to the style by the keeper’s cottage. Risby Park beyond was more inviting, partly because of the ‘Fish Ponds’; and partly because of the excellent slopes for tobogganing down the side of the ‘gallops’ but this was all viewed with great suspicion by Keeper Dunn whose young pheasants were his top priority.

The extension to the graveyard slightly altered the entrance to the grassland to the east of the Park proper, but this was a well-trodden path because it led to the cricket field. We were told that a previous generation had played in the hollow at the bottom of the park, but by our day the pitch was still were it still is. The Cricket Club was by far the most vigorous and permanent sporting organisation in the village with a string of subscribers and periodic money making whist drives. Ashley Plimpton, an indifferent player but a strong character, was the captain. In terms of cricketing technique and experience, S. S. Granger was outstanding despite damage to his hands from barbed wire during war service, he was still a dangerous left-arm bowler and a useful bat. Ralph Dunning, younger son of the owner of the Mill, was the Botham of the side, a famous hitter of sixes and capable of swinging a match in two overs. Eric Richmond, who came from Bishop Burton to farm at Walkington, was a wicket keeper of quality and Alfred Gray’s accurate medium pace was the undoing of dozens of batsmen. Needless to add, the main target to beat was Bishop Burton.

Everyday Life.

It was not until the arrival of electrical power, piped water, motor transport, the telephone and the radio that Walkington emerged into the 20th Century.

One important key that was opening the flood-gate was the internal combustion engine. Traditionally person transport had been on foot or horseback or in horse-drawn conveyance. In the 1920’s organised outings (Sunday School, for example) set off in handsomely decked farm wagons – a style now revived by the Hay Ride. If the family had to catch a train at Beverley or Little Weighton the standard routine was to ‘book’ either Bob Smith with his trap or Louis Ashton with his dog-cart, the choice depending on whether one wanted sedate low centre-of-gravity travel or whether father fancied high rise travel with panache. The bicycle was very much a utility machine, all but essential for many workmen and for children going to school in Beverley (my wife and I reckon that together we rode 15,000 miles, most of them across the Westwood against a head wind!). Before 1914 motor cars were rare and – if Donald Dunning’s ‘Yellow Peril’ is typical – highly temperamental; after 1918 they gradually became more common in a variety of makes (by 1926 I was illegally driving a ‘Vulcan’ and my future wife was driving her father’s ‘Swift’) and by then Disraeli Gardham had broken the monopoly of the horse by acquiring a motor lorry for his carrier business. A motor mechanic called Johnson lasted for about three months in the coach house of Northgate house (there were fewer than ten motor mowers in the whole village when he set up his business) On a better site – George Lawson sold petrol in West End (and, pre electricity, pumped the petrol by hand). By the later ‘30’s Bennison’s garage had been established by Mill Lane corner.

The first of the carriers to introduce new public services was Disraeli Gardham with his old army truck in which he conveyed eggs, butter and fruit in season to Hull market and picked up deliveries from different shops too large to be carried home by the purchasers. He realised the advantage of not having to unhitch a horse and pay for the stabling of them. It was at this time that shops realised that if they delivered their own goods with their own vans it gave them free advertisement. Walkington was remote from Harrods but there were esteemed shops in Hull which could put you up the social ladder. *(Dis Gardham as the local lads knew him, was still around in the 1950’s and kept the village lads ‘straight’ especially when we were at the pond as he lived in the cottage at back of the mere. His grandson, Clive Easton, has some pictures of Disraeli taken when he served with the Indian army as a driver of water buffalo transport.)

Even before 1914 there were commuters to whom the village was the place of residence but not of work: thus Hill Dawe, Town Clerk of Hull, lived with his brother at the rectory and J.R. Procter and Alexander Plimpton both left Walkington Park every working day en route to their town offices. After 1918 Brenda Stephenson went into Hull to sell cars (she was a pioneer woman driver) whilst my uncle Johnson roared off on his motor-bike to introduce students to the mysteries of Chemistry, also daily into Hull; male members of the Hall family went daily to oversee their trawling company; Leslie Crooks attended one or other of his dental surgeries and perhaps half-a-dozen others went by bicycle to the Station or their employment in Beverley. But, with minor exceptions, these commuters did not influence the size of the village because they occupied established houses. It was only when newcomers with jobs outside the village opted to build or acquire newly-built houses that the growth of Walkington can be directly related to employment at Beverley, Brough or Hull, and this was mainly a post-1946 development. Nevertheless there were straws in the wind before 1939; the first occupant of the cottage opposite the Mere (incidentally the possessor of a magnificent ‘male-alto voice) was an engineer working in Beverley whilst Jesse Micklethwaite who had come from the West Riding to pep up the old Beverley brass foundry acquired a site on Beverley Road.

The original telephone system was restricted to five houses on a kind of glorified party line. You had to count the rings to know whose call it was, and it was possible to ‘listen in’ to any conversation on the system. Nevertheless we have recollections of the sound of a horse galloping down Northgate, with its rider carrying an urgent plea to a doctor to ‘come at once’.

Radio came from the local station – 6KH. We all started with crystal sets (local lads o’ pairts soon started making them), originally with headphones, but very soon we got amplifiers to boost the volume enough for a free-standing horn loudspeaker. Local opinion was that ‘all these wireless waves’ were responsible for the bad weather.

It must be hard for modern residents to realise what life was like before you could turn on a tap or press a switch. Water supply, and sewage arrangements, must have changed very little from mediaeval times to our youth, and were the other main constraint on the growth of the village. Presumably Walca or whoever first settled in the present village site was in influenced by a natural stream running from Townend Road to the mere where it encountered another stream coming in from the north. At this point the natural channel kinked slightly to the south, constituting what was later known as the ‘Autherd’ and running away to the south-east towards the River Hull.

How long this stream remained an open drain we do not know, but at some stage it was enclosed – some of it at least in a brick lined culvert – and its eastern end was diverted away from the mere to discharge in the still open Autherd which at least established a distinction between sewerage and water supply. Again at some unknown date, the channel down the west side of Northgate was also piped with such efficiency as to lift the top of the main drain at ‘Dog and Duck’ corner, a problem not overcome until the early 1920’s when the Northgate drain was re-laid to a ‘staircase’ profile. Aside from a modest drain down Kirk Lane (laid I think at private expense) that completed the sewerage provision of the ‘old’ village and outfall into Autherd was tackled decisively by the District Council with the piping of the old channel and the provision of settling tanks near the foot of Eastwood road. *(Quarter of a mile to the west of Broadgate estate) 

The priority given to sewerage was undoubtedly justified, for the provision of unlimited mains water would have inevitably have led to a conversion to water-borne sanitation on a scale beyond the capacity of the age-old Autherd outfall.

Nevertheless the need for a reliable water supply was pressing. When Edward Hodgson bought the hall in 1922 his first big project was to employ Sheldrakes to sink a bore and set up a windmill pump. When it became known that mains electricity was on the way there was a distinct feeling that priorities had gone wrong: thus when a very unsuspecting official called Bellamy addressed an electricity publicity in the meeting in the Parish Hall he was stopped in his tracks by King Martin’s question ‘But what about water’? capped by Mrs Greaves when, pressing the ceremonial switch, she concluded her thanks with the memorable  phrase ‘I would rather have been turning a tap’.

In a very real sense the later 1920’s and early ‘30’s witnessed the first evidence of the passing of a life-style as old as the village itself. Consider water supply. The only large public reserve, the Mere, was extensively used by cow-keepers and farmers. Every day, from late Spring to Autumn, it was visited by the ‘lane cows’ en route for their stalls after a full day on the grassy verge of one of the public roads whilst the platform and pump towards the Mere Heads end was in regular use for filling horse drawn farm water carts. In very dry summers, such as 1921, the Mere was reduced to a pool of mud and debris, and farmers – whose ponds were also dry - had recourse to the Mill, where the Dunnings had a well and pump, or to Risby to fill their water carts with long-shafted scoops to ladle up the precious liquid from the fishpond. For reasons I need not elaborate, water from the Mere, whilst excellent for potted plants, was not much favoured by housewives for making tea or bathing the baby. The supply of water to the households must have been improved in the 19th century as tiles and slates replaced thatch so that roof water could be conducted via wood spouting into tubs or in more affluent establishments-underground brick cisterns. *(The last thatched cottage in the village was on the main road, just south of the entrance to West Mill Rise.)  We know, for example, that a cistern was provided at Manor Farm when the house was rebuilt in the 1760’s and - fitted generally with a lead ‘barrel’ pump - similar cisterns were available to maybe half the houses in the village. But few had the capacity either to sustain generous use of water or to withstand a dry summer whilst the barrel outside the backdoor of the typical cottage could empty in a month.

The boulder clay on chalk geological structure of the village is not conducive to surface streams or springs, but virtually all the properties on the south side of West End from the Methodist chapel to Townend Road had ‘seeps’ or ponds. Some, such as that behind Anthony Hudson’s thatched house, were encased in a brick well with arch and steps and three of them, which surfaced on the grassy verge, had been similarly treated. The biggest, at the foot of Red Yats, looked as if it had been reconstructed in the later 19th century and for a few years in the late 1920’s yet another – in the verge of ‘Ivy Terrace’ was equipped with a rotary pump. *(Sadly many of the wells and the pump were demolished in the 1950’s, however one does still survive in Anthony Hudson’s garden as described above.) But these were all unreliable in the summer and liable to pollution and the only safe source was Crooks. Spelled in a variety of ways, the spring had been the main public supply of drinking water throughout history. It emerged from pasture to the south-east of the old wash-dyke. Walter Stephenson was the water carrier in the 1920’s and with his two buckets was operating equipment and – no doubt - with the same regularity as water carriers had provided back to ‘the time whereof the memory of man runneth not to the contrary’ 

Most of the bigger houses had underground cisterns to collect rain water off the roofs, and some had a tank in the roof with a pump by the kitchen sink, often a shallow sandstone affair with and enamel bowl inside it. For drinking, we always boiled water or filtered rainwater. The filter was a glazed upright cylinder with a sandstone lining through the water percolated slowly leaving behind the bulk of the soot, crumbling slate, leafmould and at least the larger tadpoles and other fauna. No doubt it was poor by modern standards, but I suspect that most of us built up a resistance to afflictions which would have stricken people of present times. Most people had a barrel or two, catching water off sheds and the like, and as we describe elsewhere, many got their drinking water from Crooks Wells via Walter Stephenson’s buckets. Flush sanitation was almost unknown: the lavatory was the privy ‘at the bottom of the garden’ or in some discreet point behind the house. *(And as one elderly resident who still remembers the 1920’s told me recently, “ours was a privy for two, where we sat and gossiped whist we got on with things”. I also remember being told that the parson had a toilet with a spring loaded seat and as one stood up a deposit of sand was thrown down!)

The arrival of mains electricity was long awaited. It was heralded by the holding of public meetings when it was explained how the benefits of modern civilization were about to descend on us. However, this did not in the beginning include street lighting. The village engaged in a frenzy of taking up floors, cutting away plaster, buying equipment and fancy lampshades in readiness for the great day. Looking back, it strikes me as ironic that some of the more adventurous of us had flown with Alan Cobham’s flying circus before we had either running water or electricity at home.

A few people had ‘Valor’ paraffin heaters, but by and large heating and cooking depended on open fires and the kitchen range. The side boiler on the range provided a little warmth, but with the kettle to boil and breakfast to cook on a newly lit fire the rush to get off to school or to work was not conductive to good temper. Some people bought ‘Primus’ stoves to boil a kettle more quickly. Everybody used candles to go to bed or to see their way about the house, spending the evening in the one room with the oil lamp. The snag was that the capacity of the bowl was limited, so, you either went to bed early or used candles, especially on the long winter evenings.

It took a while for piped water and mains electricity to reach the peripheral properties but in general we can conclude that between the mid 1920’s and 1933 the village had passed from candle and oil lamp to electric lighting, from the barrel and the bucket to the tap and from earth closet to flush sanitation.

Looking back it seems we were well supplied. Several people in the village sold lamp oil, and a horse drawn rully came weekly from Briggs and Powell with oil, wicks and the like and an assortment of domestic ironmongery. The same applied to groceries. Cussons from Hull and Myers from Welton delivered every week. The Cussons traveller came on his cycle to take orders for a delivery a day or two later. Thirsks similarly had a weekly delivery of hencorn and pig meal. You could get the morning paper delivered by post (1/2 d stamp) by 8 o’clock in the morning – a comment on today’s postal service. Evening and weekend papers were delivered by William Howes. Several people in the village grew and sold vegetables and fruit in due season, and one Stabler (generally known as ‘Honey’ came round on Saturdays with fruit for sale or barter in exchange for rabbit skins. He was a fearsome looking chap with a squint, offset by a poetic turn of phrase: his oranges had ‘skins like velvet and juice like wine’. The butchers shop near the Dog and Duck was owned by Mrs Smith but run by her son-in-law Fred Willey, who came or sent meat round each Friday for weekend orders - ‘Meat, mutton or pork?’. The slaughter-house adjoined the shop and one sure evidence of a recent killing was the inflated bladder in use as a football. *(The shop continued in use until well into the 1950’s and was run by Jim Smith, I can well remember the screaming of the pigs in the yard and the school lads hanging over the door on their way to school to see if they could see what was going on there.) Besides managing the slaughterhouse and butchers shop Mrs Smith ran the Post Office. She was a little old lady, famous for her potted meat which she was delighted to supply on request, to public celebrations or local bun fights. *(Both the Post Office and the butchers shop were situated round the corner from the Dog and Duck on School Lane or Northgate as it is now known).

As we have described, there was a flourishing tailors shop, and two general stores, the smaller run by Mrs Risdale, the larger by Mrs Farrow. The latter stocked everything from Carter’s Little Liver Pills to lamp oil and clothes lines. The Farrows had an unmarried daughter, Rose, originally a seamstress, and as Mrs Farrow aged, Rose increasingly ran the shop. But even in her old age, Mrs Farrow kept a firm hand on the tiller or till. She would be sat by the fire stowing any paper money in an ancient wallet kept under her cushion. If one went on a winter evening you would find Mr Farrow sitting at the table with the paper, and just as he focussed his spectacles to see how Hull City had done the lamp would be whisked away to enable Rose or her Mother to find something in one of their dark cupboards. How they failed to set the place on fire remained a mystery. *(Many villagers still remember Rose Farrow. Dressed all in black and with fingerless gloves she was an imposing but kindly lady who always waited patiently as we decided what sweets we would like to spend our pocket money on. The choice was limited to boiled sweets or toffees and liquorice sticks at one penny each. Occasionally there were sixpenny bars of chocolate and if we only had a half penny we would buy an Oxo cube to suck on! The scratched initials of small boys waiting for the shop to open can still be seen in the red brickwork at the location of the old village shop in West End.)

Mrs Smith, in theory, managed the village slaughterhouse and butcher’s shop and the post office at the village crossroads. *(On Northgate just round the corner from the ‘Dog and Duck’) She was a little old lady, famous for her potted meat which she was delighted to supply to public celebrations and local bun fights. Her son-in-law, Fred Willey, fulfilled the role of butcher and slaughterman. Increasingly one of her unmarried daughters (Sally) took over the post office. As it was a bigger house, they could devote one room entirely to the postal business. The mail came from Beverley on a bicycle – and the postman and Miss Smith sorted it out before he set out on his round. There were morning and afternoon deliveries and collections, including Christmas day though by then the timing had become erratic because of the numerous stops for a glass of wine and a mince pie. Under Miss Smith, the Post Office (like Miss Farrow’s shop) was a clearing house for local gossip – a kind of oral newsletter.

Milk, butter and eggs were sold all over the village, for there must have been over twenty cowkeepers. ‘Fetching the milk’ was a regular chore for children. It was during the course of our return home with a can of milk that we learned our first lesson about centrifugal force as we ‘dared’ each other to swing the can round and round in a vertical plane. Experience showed that it was perfectly safe unless you lost your nerve at the top of the swing.

I do not want to give the impression that the village was self – supporting. Major requirements had to be met in Beverley or Hull, and the carrier’s carts played a crucial role in getting big parcels home. Each had its allotted stand in the Market place or Humber Street, and in the winter could arrive back with a stable lantern swinging fore and aft of the cart. In the early days (i.e. until the buses got organised) a trip into Hull was a major undertaking for you had to cycle in to Beverley Station and, in winter, be sure that you had your cycle lamps topped up with oil for the return journey. One result was that trips to the Hull theatres – the Grand or the Tivoli – tended to be confined to the matinees and, if you went to buy books at Browns, you had to be sure you had your list with you.

The seasons were well defined by major activities. Once the weather turned cold enough, people started to plan pig killing, and surprisingly large numbers of people kept a pig. In retrospect it seems a pretty grim business, but at the time it seemed part of the natural order of things. The fatal day was determined by the availability of Bell Hutton the ‘pig killer’. Slaughtering the pig, required vast amounts of boiling water to ‘scald’ the skin, cut it up and salt the portions to be preserved, further visits were required thereafter to inspect the joints and rub a bit more salt into critical points. In the absence of refrigeration, the disposal of unsalted flesh was critical, giving rise to the laudable custom of giving platefuls of ‘pigs fry’ etc. to friends and neighbours (and ‘don’t wash the plate or you will wash away the good luck’).

Once all that panic was over, mothers started nagging about spring cleaning. In the absence of vacuum cleaners it was essential, but it really was a miserable business for the rest of the household. Carpets were taken up and hauled out of the house to be beaten. It was a common sight to see a squad of ‘professionals’ on the Westwood beating carpets from the more posh Beverley houses. If decoration were called for beyond the capability of the household, we employed one Freeman from South Cave who used to come by horse and cart, remove a door to serve as paste board, and go into very vigorous action. Wallpaper came mainly from Burton Bros, in Toll Gavel. Certainly oil lamps and open fires created a lot of dust and staining, and houseproud mothers derived great satisfaction from the outcome of the chaos.

A lot of entertainment was homespun. The standard social activity was the Whist Drive and Dance, in the early days at the school. It was the stock money raiser for the clubs. The drill in the school was for husky lads to shift the desks from the ‘big room’ and set out card tables, and then, after whist and supper, sprinkle the floor with some sort of crystals which allegedly gave the rough boards a polish so that you did not actually trip over the splinters. Dancing was an accomplishment which in those days had to be learned, and each winter in the early 1920’s there were classes in the school at night, run by Lance Duck of Bishop Burton and assisted by Mrs Marshall whilst Mrs Duck hammered out a strong rhythm on the piano. We retain a vivid memory of being propelled round the schoolroom, clasped to (or rather below) a matronly bosom while Lance chanted ‘One, two’ three’. The ultimate aim was a sufficient accomplishment to attend without disgrace, the annual Waifs and Strays Ball at the old gymnasium in Beverley. For one of us at least the only redeeming feature of the ball was the supper.

The school was also the setting for occasional, and, in retrospect, hilarious concerts, either provided by schoolchildren or local adult talent. John Barker, the blacksmith’s apprentice, was a tower of strength as self-appointed scene shifter and curtain puller. One of the Jelly girls was good at popular ditties such as ‘I wake up every morning when the clock strikes eight’ and our very close relative, Mrs Maude E. Lythe (Sidney’s wife), was known to give a painfully sentimental rendering of ‘My Little Grey Home in the West’. 

The summertime social highlight was Mrs Fawsitt’s missionary garden party, the inevitable church fund raising effort, and the church Sunday school party on the Rectory lawn which in those days swept right up to the churchyard. The Sunday school party always featured a swing attached to a branch of a tree and supervised by the blacksmith’s mighty arms, though on one famous occasion modern technology took over in the form of an aerial railway – in effect a wheel running down a rope with handles which you grasped. This gave rise to much matronly ‘tut-tutting’ and was deemed unsafe. There was always a good tea in the covered wash alongside the kitchen and a bran-tub with parting gifts for everybody. During the proceedings, parties were conducted into the house to see Marcus the parrot who despite that, having been educated at sea, his language was liable to be unparsonical.

To say that a village is a community of families certainly applied in Walkington. This was largely the result of society, which was probably more static than in previous generations. The only floating householders were the hinds who often moved after a couple of years. A few had come a generation earlier when the district attracted a lot of labour for the construction of the Hull and Barnsley Railway which passed through Little Weighton, but the bulk of the population were natives of at least two or three generations and there had been enough inter-marriage to produce a complex network of families with the result that everybody knew everybody else, and the stranger would quickly be identified by Mrs Farrow’s direct question ‘And who might you be, young man?’ In a sense it was a closed and smug society with all the disadvantages that applies. But on the plus side there was a lot of mutual assistance, a lot of benevolence, and we lived in peace. Sin there was, without doubt, but crime was almost unknown. *(There is still a vestige of this network of families in the village, most which can trace their ancestry back to the 1920’s and beyond).

Even the pubs were the source of what is in modern terms pretty innocent amusement. Louis Ashton who as mentioned afore along with his sisters had the tenancy of the Ferguson–Fawsitt Arms for twenty years. Louis was more interested in training horses than in selling beer though he was a ‘character’ with a mordant wit (on encountering the rector’s wife shortly after his wife had produced twins and being asked ‘How are the twins doing?’ he replied ‘Mrs Dawe, like Cherubim and Seraphim they continually do cry’.)*( I went to see one of the twins the other day, now almost ninety years old, Thomas Ashton regaled me with stories of life in Walkington in the 1920’s  including the farmer who tried to take his horse into the Barrel Inn but who only succeeded in getting the horses head and shoulders through the door and that the Ferguson and Fawsitt not only boasted a ballroom at some time in its history but also a rifle-range. His father trained horses but one day much to the amusement of a gathering crowd one of his horses knelt down in the road like a camel and refused to move. Louis quietly whispered in his son’s ear to go home and ‘Bring me a jug of water’. On receiving the jug, Louis quickly poured the water into each ear of the horse resulting in the animal quickly regaining its feet. Thomas also gave me many interesting facts on the church, all of which I had never heard before Thomas now lives in North Yorkshire. His twin sister lives in Beverley.)

A notable feature of the village was the assembly which, on fine evenings, gathered on the footpath by the Dog and Duck, all the young males, some on bicycles, constantly changing in composition rather like a swarm of bees. The core consisted of ‘lads’ from the Wold and other remote farming areas and boys from the village old enough to consider themselves fit for ‘men’s talk’. The main activity was horse-play and ribald humour, punctuated by very audible comments on any young female in sight. I can describe one incident. It came about thus.

 A Walkington farmer was wont to attend Beverley market and at least one of the hostelries frequented by his profession. After a full day of bargaining about bullocks and the like he would be guided to his trap by the ostler who would then point the horse towards the Westwood and hope for the best. Sure enough, half an hour later horse and farmer have arrived outside the Dog and Duck at which the farmer decided to call for a freshen-up before going to his own family. Now in those days the entrance to the inn’s yard was controlled by a five – bar gate so, not wishing to delay his arrival home, the farmer pulled onto the footpath alongside the assembly of youths, threw the reins over the head of the gate and departed into the licensed premises. Upon seeing this, certain of the youths skilled in horsemanship removed the horse from the shafts and took him to the inner side of the gate whilst assistants man-handled the trap so that the body was outside and blocking the pavement. They then yoked the horse to the shafts and retired into the obscurity of the mob to ensure a vantage point for the explosion (both audio and visual) which would undoubtedly follow.

The replacement of the five-bar gate by a pair of doors was among the changes introduced by Hull Brewery when they acquired the premises in the 1930’s. The major outward and visible sign of change of ownership was the revamping of the front and ends of the main block so that what had been an honest old village pub acquired over-hung eaves and gables, bow windows and half timbering. Clearly there was no expectation of any upsurge in catering for nothing startling was done to the ‘Tea Room’ (the single storey building to the east of the entrance) but the growing volume of cars and buses contributed to the dispersion of the nightly horde of youths.

For a few years towards the end of their ownership in Walkington the Chater-Fawsitts provided and financed a Reading Room, which was later converted into a house (the Old Barn as it is now). By the mid-1920’s the new Parish Hall offered a more satisfactory location for public functions than the school in Northgate, or School Lane as it was then known. In terms of numbers attending, the new Hall’s best customers were the organisers of Whist Drives and Dances – recognised and highly popular as devices for raising money, preferably on a Friday night when a bit of moonlight penetrated the inky gloom of the village streets. Besides these occasional bookings the Hall had a small group of regulars, notably the local branch of the British Legion and of the Women’s Institute (one of the earliest in the East Riding) and the Choral Society which enabled the village to benefit from the musical talent of the new Rector, the Rev.H.B.Greeves.

By the mid-1920’s there were harbringers of change which would revolutionise all the components of village life. Through an open window you might hear a very cultured voice proclaiming ‘This is 6KH calling; here are today’s fat stock prices’ and outside the house you would see a two gallon can of petrol being poured into the tank of a Ford. The world was coming to the village, and the village was going out into the world.

By late 1930’s the village was ripe for development but the restrictions of war time prevented what would have been the destruction of the character of the village through unplanned building. But by the time the wartime restrictions had been lifted, local authority planning had embraced the village and the increase in houses, mainly on ‘backland’ had little detrimental effect on the visual quality of the trees, houses and walls of the historic village.

So the first upward surge since the early 19th century came with the building of the Council House estate and then sustained especially from 1966 to ‘69’ by private developers. This carried the population up to 818 in 1951 and 1,220 by mid-1969. ‘The Village Plan, First Draft Report’ (1970)’ forecast that the population would rise by a further 876, giving a population of something over 2,000. And that is how it is. And the marvel is that, provided he watched out for traffic, one of the Hopper boys who emigrated seventy years ago could stand outside the ‘Dog and Duck’ and recognise scenes of his boyhood in all four directions.

That concludes Joan and Edgar Lythe’s wonderful description of village life in the 1920’s. However they did request that when their work was published in the newsletter that it should be presented so that the present generation should recognise the places they have describe and any other information included. In this respect I have received additional stories and photographs about life in our village at that time from people in Walkington and other parts of the country.

Tony Collinson

Images from the 1920s


There are a number of photographs from the 1920s that have surfaced since these articles have been serialised and they can be found from this page. 

